MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 20, 2015 PUBLIC SCHOOLS OVERCROWDING & REPAIR NEEDS COMMITTEE MEETING

1. Opening Items

a. Call to Order

The meeting of the Public Schools Overcrowding & Repair Needs Committee was called to order at 9:04 a.m. at the Washoe County Complex, 1001 East Ninth Street, Caucus Room, Reno, Nevada.

b. Roll Call & Introductions

Chairman Shaun Carey and Committee Members Mike Cate, Dana Galvin, Josh Hicks, Mike Kazmierski, Todd Koch, Greg Peek, Dylan Shaver, Kevin Sigstad, and Len Stevens were present. Committee Member Bridget Burckhard and Senator Debbie Smith were present through phone conference. Committee Members Assemblywoman Teresa Benitez-Thompson, Commissioner Marsha Berkbigler, and Anthony Carano were absent from the meeting.

2. Public Comment

There was no public comment at this time.

3. Items for Discussion and Possible Action

a. Approval of the Minutes of the October 9, 2015 Meeting

It was moved by Mr. Hicks and seconded by Mr. Shaver that **the Public Schools**Overcrowding & Repair Needs Committee approves the minutes of the
October 9, 2015 Meeting. The result of the vote was Unanimous. Final Resolution:
Motion Carries.

c. Presentation and discussion regarding the draft Washoe County School District Strategic Blueprint for Overcrowding and Repairs, to include possible scenarios regarding school construction, rezoning, school calendar (multi-track, yearround)/schedule changes (double sessions), and recommendations to manage future growth

Washoe County School District Board of Trustee Angela Taylor provided an introduction to the District's draft Strategic Blueprint for Overcrowding and Repairs. The document was intended to provide a vision to the community on how the District

planned to address current and future overcrowding issues. The presentation would include information on how the District had traditionally utilized funds to relieve overcrowding in the schools and how new schools were constructed; as well as information on what the District intended to do to alleviate overcrowding with currently available funds. Additionally, information was also provided on how the District would utilize any new revenue made available with a prioritized list of projects, which included repairs and renovations desperately needed. The guiding principles for the District related to any decision on overcrowding were:

- 1. Student Safety including how students were able to move throughout the schools and on the playgrounds.
- 2. Academic Achievement research showed that where students learned had an impact on their ability to learn and succeed.
- 3. Existing Facility Needs overcrowding impacted all schools in the District and every community in the area so the needs of existing schools could not be sacrificed for new schools.
- 4. Family Disruption the District recognized that where a student went to school and when they were in and out of school affected the families of both students and staff.
- 5. Avoidance of double-sessions the Board and senior District staff wanted to avoid double-sessions at all possible because of the disruption it caused for everyone.

The Board believed the Blueprint would provide the vision for the District for many years and show the commitment of the District to all current and future students to provide the best education possible. Not only were the basic needs for capital projects presented, but an ideal budget was also included to show how much it would cost to provide everything the District could to allow for a higher level of learning for students in the 21st Century. The Board and Superintendent Davis believed that the Blueprint was the best possible solution for the District.

Mr. Peek wondered if the desire to avoid double-sessions also included the use of multi-track, year-round calendars. Trustee Taylor indicated that double-sessions did not include the use of multi-track, year-round schedules. Double-sessions were more related to middle and high schools, while multi-track, year-round calendars were related to elementary schools. The District understood that multi-track, year-round calendars were a disruption for families, but the calendar would not have the extreme disruption that double-sessions would cause.

Pete Etchart, Chief Operations Officer, Washoe County School District, explained how the draft Strategic Blueprint was developed by reviewing the District's traditional method of handling overcrowding and the recommendations presented by The Cuningham Group. The Blueprint was a 9-year plan and based on a 1.7% growth rate. A 2.4% growth rate would require moving all plans up by about 5 years. It was

important to remember that the District needed to be able to adjust any plans as needed depending on where and when the growth actually occurred. The draft Strategic Blueprint was presented to the Committee with a review of what the District was interested in providing for the high schools. The first priority for high schools was to complete the addition to Damonte Ranch High School. The District also believed three new high schools were required, but was not recommending the closure or conversion of Sparks and Wooster High Schools, which instead would be expanded with the strategic purchase of existing properties near the schools, especially Sparks High School. The new high schools would be located, at the current time, in the Cold Springs area, the South McCarran/Butler Ranch area, and the Wildcreek area to replace the existing Hug High School, which would be converted into a Signature Academy similar to Academy for Arts, Careers, and Technology (AACT) High School. The plan for middle schools in the District was reviewed. The recommendation from the District was to build three new middle schools, strategically placed. The first priority for middle schools was to construct a new school in the Sun Valley area because those students were currently split between Sparks and Traner Middle Schools resulting in a division of the community. The other two schools would currently be located in the Arrowcreek area and Spanish Springs area.

Mr. Koch asked if the District currently owned any property in the areas where they were interested in building the middle schools. Mr. Etchart noted that the District had been trying to acquire certain properties in the Sun Valley area, but the land was caught up in the Sage Grouse issue that had been occurring. Washoe County had been assisting the District with the acquisition process in both the Sun Valley and Arrowcreek areas so the process was beginning to move forward.

Mr. Etchart reviewed the plans related to elementary schools. Elementary schools would be converted to a multi-track, year-round calendar as needed and based on the process that had been approved by the Board of Trustees.

Kristen McNeill, Deputy Superintendent, Washoe County School District, explained the intent of both multi-track, year-round calendars and double-sessions was to increase the capacity in a school. She had been a teacher and principal at schools that had utilized both methods to increase capacity. The impact on families and the learning environment were more severe under a double-session schedule. There were challenges with multi-track, year-round calendars for families; however, the District believed that those challenges offered less of an impact to the educational environment to both students and staff. The District was thankful for the recommendations from The Cuningham Group on the conversion of elementary schools to a multi-track, year-round calendar, but after listening to parents, staff, and the community, the District believe a better approach was to consider each school on its' own needs and merits. A process had been put in place by the Board of Trustees

to allow for schools to have time to make the transition to a multi-track, year-round calendar if one was required. Currently, six school met the criteria put in place by the Board with the Conversion Threshold figure of 120% of student capacity to move to such a calendar and the District was working with each school to assure a smooth transition.

Chairman Carey requested additional information on what was currently occurring at the school level to prepare for the possible transition to multi-track, year-round. Ms. McNeill stated that each school had received a community presentation on the development of their own School Overcrowding Management Plan. superintendent, principal, teachers, and parents were able to form a committee to develop their own plan on how to deal with overcrowding based on the available and usable classroom space. The plan could include various options to not convert the school calendar, but the final decision would be made by Superintendent Davis and the Board of Trustees. It was important to note that there were some schools in the District that could not be converted to a multi-track, year-round calendar because of the amount of classroom space in the buildings. Mr. Etchart noted that after the 2016-17 School Year, any school reaching the 120% Conversion Threshold would automatically convert to a multi-track, year-round calendar. The schools at the Threshold currently were afforded the opportunity to develop the School Overcrowding Management Plan in order to determine if there were other steps that could be taken prior to changing the calendar.

Mr. Sigstad wondered why the District would not just place all non-core elementary schools on a multi-track, year-round calendar. Ms. McNeill remarked that, based on input from the community, families, and staff, the District decided not to convert schools to multi-track, year-round unless there were no other options.

Mr. Etchart provided the Committee with an example of what was currently occurring at Lenz Elementary School to show how there could be problems with overcrowding options, such as spot-rezoning. Lenz Elementary School was across South Virginia Street from Double Diamond Elementary School, which was one of the most severely overcrowded schools in the District and would be converted to the multi-track, year-round calendar for the 2017-18 School Year. Lenz Elementary School was at about 88% capacity. The District looked at rezoning some students from Double Diamond Elementary School; however, the City of Reno recently received a development application for 584 residential units to be built behind the Summit Mall. The proposed complex would be zoned for Lenz Elementary School and, based on projections, would place the school near 97% capacity without rezoning students from Double Diamond Elementary School. Additionally, Double Diamond Elementary School would still face moving to a multi-track, year-round calendar even if some rezoning occurred. The problem was similar to what had occurred at Verdi Elementary School during the 2014-

15 School Year. The District was out of "easy" options to relieve overcrowding. The cost to convert a school to multi-track, year-round was approximately \$250,000 per year, per school.

Mr. Shaver asked if the Committee would be able to review some of the final School Overcrowding Management Plans. Riley Sutton, School Capital Needs Public Relations Specialist, Washoe County School District, noted that none of the schools had submitted their final plans to the District yet. The plans were due to Superintendent Davis at the end of November 2015, so they could be evaluated and then reviewed by the Board of Trustees if necessary. Some of the content of the plans could include the number of classes that would be team-taught or movement/conversion of space into classrooms, such as a computer lab. The intent of the development of the plans was to allow staff and families to be involved in the process so they would understand they reasons behind the solutions and decisions made. In some respects it would be easier to move all non-core schools to a multi-track, year-round calendar; however, the District wanted to consider the needs of the individual families and school communities and if multi-track, round-round was a viable option. There were pros and cons to all options.

Mr. Etchart reviewed the draft Strategic Blueprint as it related to elementary schools. The District was interested in building two new elementary schools based on current needs. One would be located in the South Meadows area and the other in the North Valleys/Spanish Springs area. Additionally, the District was interested in the reinvestment of schools within the core and could provide some spot-rezoning if necessary since those schools could not be converted to a multi-track, year-round calendar. The cost to implement the draft Strategic Blueprint was a total of \$103 million annually for a total of \$925 million. Based on the current bond projections, the District would be able to raise \$35 million in bond sales per year, which would leave a shortfall of \$68 million per year. There were a number of unknowns that could occur in the region that would increase growth rates to 3-5%, including housing developments that had been approved prior to the Great Recession but never started.

Mr. Etchart also presented an ideal plan that would properly fund the District's capital project needs to avoid multi-track, year-round at all schools at a total cost of \$1.4 billion, or \$155 million annually, which included: \$164 million for 7 new elementary school; replacement of all "dry" portable classroom buildings at the cost of \$133 million for the construction of one new elementary school and one new high school, or \$62 million to replace the portables with new additions on the schools, or \$13 million to replace the "dry" portables with portables that have restrooms. Administrative facilities were also in need of revitalization, especially those directly related to students, such as Nutrition Services and Transportation. Finally, the District was interested in repairing all systems considered critical on the facility needs index,

which would require \$50 million up front and then the \$20 million per year previously presented. Finally, he presented information on what could occur if the District did not receive any additional funding. Since the bonding capacity was about \$35 million and the District required about \$20 million for repair needs, they would have approximately \$15 million available for new school construction or other projects listed in the draft Strategic Blueprint.

Chairman Carey requested additional information on what the schools would be facing if the District did not receive any additional funding. Specifically, he was interested in a one-page document that could be presented to the public on the impact of no additional funding for the District related to Capital Projects. Mr. Etchart agreed that it would be important for the community to fully understand the impacts of overcrowding on the District and what no additional funding could result in. It was important to note that even with the proposed addition to Damonte Ranch High School there was the possibility the school could face double-sessions. The District wanted to avoid double-sessions at all costs because of the disruptions it caused. Washoe County was both an urban and rural school district so if forced to move to doublesessions, some students would start school about 6:00 a.m., which would mean there would be some students waiting for buses around 4:15 a.m. Double-sessions were used guite a bit in Southern Nevada, but had only been used in Washoe County for part of one year just before the opening of Reed High School. The District was working with projected enrollments and the information could change depending on where growth actually occurred. The projections currently showed that, aside from Damonte Ranch High School, there was also the possibility of double-sessions within the next 5-7 years at McQueen High School, Spanish Springs High School, North Valleys High School, Depoali Middle School, Mendive Middle School, and Shaw Middle School.

A discussion was held on if a single figure should be utilized when considering the amount needed, namely the final 9 year amount, or if an annual amount should be considered. It would be important for the Committee to be able to see a revenue analysis of the five taxes for each plan, including the bonding capacity. Additionally, the Committee requested information on the timing of when the District would receive any additional revenue and when projects could begin since the plans were based on a 9-year period. Specifics would be critical since many in the community were interested in knowing exactly what the money would be spent on if provided.

Mr. Cate reminded the Committee that the plans were based on a projected 1.7% growth rate so if the growth was accelerated then all plans would have to be moved up by 5 years so the timing needed to be flexible to allow the District to work on projects based on the growth.

Mr. Hicks wondered if the revenue to operate the schools would be available with each plan and not just construct the schools. Tom Ciesynski, Chief Financial Officer, Washoe County School District, indicated that the District would receive additional funding from the State out of the Distributive School Account (DSA) for additional students. Challenges would continue with funding staff, but they would not be as great as with the Capital Projects.

Mr. Kazmierski remarked that the Economic Development Authority of Western Nevada (EDAWN) was showing that growth was occurring faster than originally projected and the major hiring for Tesla had not happened yet. He would like to really show the public what double-sessions would look like for students, families, staff, and the community as a whole so they would fully understand the implications of a "no" vote. Additionally, it would also be important to have a visual map of all the schools in the District. He felt many in the community did not understand the number of schools in the District.

Mr. Sigstad wondered if the District would receive additional bonding capacity during the 9-year period because other bonds would be retired. Mr. Etchart indicated that there were bonds that would expire and the information was figured into the calculations previously presented to the Committee on the ability of the District to seek bonds.

Chairman Carey opened the meeting to public comment.

Matthew Smith was the parent of a 1st grader at Mt. Rose Pre-K-8 Academy of Languages. Mt. Rose was one of the schools that could not be converted to multitrack, year-round, but had met the Conversion Threshold of 120%. The District had conducted a community meeting in October that went very well and where the process was laid out for the community on how parents could be involved in the development of the School Overcrowding Management Plan. He believed it was the intention of those in the District that the process would be followed; however, that did not occur. Ideas were presented at another meeting on what the District felt should happen for the school and feedback requested, but no notes were ever taken on the comments provided by parents. He had previously worked in education and understood that all ideas and recommendations from parents could not be implemented, but he was concerned that the commitment to the school and parents made by the District was not being honored and the reasonable ideas and suggestions from parents were not being considered in the plan. He was hopeful that the Committee would review the school plans critically and ask questions. It was important to remember that Mt. Rose was different and held the premier bilingual program in the State. The proposal presented to the parents to deal with overcrowding was to move 7th and 8th grades out of Mt. Rose to Swope Middle School because there was space. While on paper

the proposal seemed easy and simple, the families believed there would be damage to the program and the State's commitment to bi-literacy affected. The parents were frustrated because they did not feel their concerns or suggestions were being addressed by the District.

Chairman Carey suggested that a discussion on the item continue at the next meeting of the Committee as to allow the information to be reviewed more by members. He asked that additional information on proposed housing developments be presented to the Committee and what the next steps would be for the draft Strategic Blueprint from the District. Irene Payne, Chief Communications and Community Engagement Officer, Washoe County School District, indicated that the District was developing a communications plan for the document. The plan was to begin presenting the information to the community for feedback and input at community meetings in early 2016.

Mr. Peek wondered if the Committee would be "locked into" the plan presented by the District in the Strategic Blueprint. He was concerned that the Committee could determine a different amount of need based on what they believed they could raise through changes to taxes. Ms. Payne stated that the District would be very clear the document was a draft and that it was the vision of the Board of Trustees and Washoe County School District, not of the Public Schools Overcrowding and Repair Needs Committee.

Mr. Peek noted that the Board and Superintendent were the "authoritative" voices when it came to the District's needs. He expressed concern that publically, an amount would have been presented by the District of what it would cost to relieve overcrowding, and the Committee would not necessarily be able to propose a different amount to the community. Mr. Sutton remarked that the District would prefer to present a specific amount based on the work of the Committee, but would need the Committee to propose the amount. The District would not be able to advocate for or against any ballot measure, but they would be able to present information on what would be done with the revenue and the impact on the District if they received, or did not receive, additional funding. He believed the District would be able to "tell a story" of what they would be able to do with different amounts of funding.

Mr. Kazmierski recommended the Committee use the figures contained in the Strategic Blueprint as the minimum amount the District would require. He was interested in working to remove the portables, which would be an additional cost to what the District presented. The Committee had to consider what amount they wanted and build a tax piece that would provide that amount. If it was the same as the District's Blueprint, that was fine, but the amount could also be more which would allow the District to provide additional items toward the "ideal."

Trustee Taylor thanked the Committee for the feedback on the draft Strategic Blueprint. The Board of Trustees agreed that it was important to present a number to the community on what the District needed for capital projects and improvements. The District wanted to be able to show what they would be able to do with different amounts of funding, but at the same time remaining nimble enough to change course as required by growth. It was critical the community understand that the situation the District was in concerning overcrowding and growth was dire and the solution not easy, but the current situation was worse than the solution.

Mr. Stevens noted that the amount provided within the draft Strategic Blueprint was important for the Committee and community to have; however, it would be important to break that number down so the individual taxpayer would be able to see how it would directly affect them on an annual or monthly basis. He felt that would be the only way a ballot question would succeed. The Committee agreed that it would be important and additional discussions would have to occur on the amounts for each tax the Committee was authorized to consider.

Committee Member Mike Cate left the meeting at 10:37 a.m.

b. Presentation and discussion on the operating cost of a school by level and per pupil

Tom Ciesynski, Chief Financial Officer, Washoe County School District, presented the Committee with information on the operating costs of schools. The information was taken from the annual audit report that would be provided to the Board of Trustees at a future meeting and was based on Fiscal Year 2015 information. The operating funds for the schools was broken down into personnel costs, non-personnel costs used in operating a school such as supplies, and the utilities costs. The total operating costs for schools in the District was about \$340 million. The total cost was then broken down by elementary, middle, and high schools to show an approximate per school operating cost and then by pupil to show the per pupil cost at each school level.

Mr. Sigstad noted that the total cost per year, per student was about \$5,000 for an elementary school. If a school were to move to a multi-track, year-round calendar, the cost to an elementary school would increase by \$250,000 per school, then the operating cost per student would decrease to about \$4,200 because of the increased number of students. Mr. Ciesynski indicated that he had not done the math related to the impact, but the amounts appeared to be correct. It was less expensive to operate a school on multi-track, per student, than it was to build a new school; however, over time the costs would increase because the multi-track, year-round calendars were intended to "buy time" until a new school could be built.

Mr. Kazmierski remarked that the other side of the discussion was that multi-track, year-round was used as a last resort to relieve overcrowding. Once that option was used there was little else that could be done once the school was full again.

d. Requests for future agenda items

Chairman Carey reviewed the items that were tentatively scheduled for the next few meetings.

4. Public Comment

There was no public comment at this time.

5. Adjourn Meeting

There being no further business to come before the members of the committee, Chairman Carey declared the meeting adjourned at 10:47 a.m.

Shaun	Carey,	Chair	